IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC04-54

ROBERT EUGENE HENDRIX,

APPELLANT,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

APPELLEE.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

CORRECTED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Harry Brody Fl. Bar No. 0977860

BRODY & HAZEN, PA 1804 Miccosukkee Commons Dr. Suite 200 P.O. Box 16515 Tallahassee, Florida 32317

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant appeals the circuit court's denial of his postconviction motion to vacate his convictions and sentences and for a new trial prosecuted pursuant to Rule 3.850, Fl. R. Crim. P.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

1. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On September 19, 1990, the grand jury in Lake County, Florida indicted Mr. Hendrix for two counts of first-degree, premeditated murder, for two counts of conspiracy to commit first-degree murder, and for armed burglary. (R. 3249-3250) Mr. Hendrix was, after a trial by jury, convicted as charged. (R. 3835-3849)

The jury, in the penalty-phase of the trial, recommended the sanction of death on both murder convictions. (R. 3737-3738)

On November 4, 1991, the court sentenced Mr. Hendrix to death on both murder convictions. (R. 3851-3858)

In support of its death sentence for the death of Elmer Scott, the court found five aggravating factors: that the murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated, that the murder was committed to disrupt or hinder the lawful exercise of a governmental function or enforcement of laws; that the murder was committed in the commission of a burglary; that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel; and that Mr. Hendrix was convicted of a contemporaneous murder.

Similarly, in support of the death sentence for the murder of Mrs. Scott, the court found the same five aggravating factors. Further, although finding no statutory mitigating factors, the court found some non-statutory mitigating circumstances, including problems in his family

history and in his juvenile history, a close relationship with his mother and sisters, and the life sentence given codefendant and witness, Denise Turbyville. (R. 3851-58)

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court upheld the convictions and sentences. <u>Hendrix v. State</u>, 637 So. 2d 916 (Fla. 1994) Subsequently, the United States Supreme Court denied a timely filed Petition for Writ of Certiorari. <u>Hendrix v. Florida</u>, 115 S. Ct. 520 (1994).

Mr. Hendrix timely filed his Motion For Post-Conviction Relief, and amendments thereto, pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3850. Judge Lockett, who had been the trial judge, denied some issues without a hearing and granted an evidentiary on other issues, and, because Judge Lockett left the bench prior to the evidentiary hearing, Judge Hill presided over the evidentiary hearing and, by Order dated December 11, 2003, denied relief on the claims of the motion.

Mr. Hendrix now appeals the lower court's Order denying his motion for post-conviction relief and an Order denying his request to take depositions.

2. THE LOWER COURT'S ORDERS

Mr. Hendrix appeals these orders of the lower court:

A. Order Denying Discovery

The lower court erred in refusing to allow Mr. Hendrix to take the deposition of Judge Lockett and others regarding Judge Lockett's neutrality and knowledge of facts outside the

record.

B. The Final Order

Judge Lockett orally granted Mr. Hendrix was granted an evidentiary hearing on the following claims, and, subsequently, Judge Hill, after Judge Lockett left the bench suddenly a few days before a hearing was set to be held, continued the hearing and issued a written order memorializing the previous pronouncement :

- ineffective assistance of counsel in the penalty phase for failing to present evidence of defendant's history of drug and alcohol use and his drug and alcohol use at the time of the crime;

-ineffective assistance of counsel in the guilt and penalty phases for counsel's failure to cross-examine witness and to present expert witnesses regarding mental-health mitigators and presented other lay and expert testimony, including a pathologist, that would have mitigated against both premeditation or heightened premeditation and the existence of the HAC aggravators;

-a <u>Brady</u> violation by the state for failing to disclose that an important witness had, in fact, been a confidential agent of the Fifth Circuit's drug task force;

-the fact that the defendant had been shackled such that the jury was aware of or could have been aware of the fact he was shackled and thus been improperly influenced by the message which such shackling sends to the jury that the State considers him a dangerous man who needs to be

chained even before any evidence is presented, and the subliminal message of his jiggling chains was sent to the jury for the duration the trial, improperly causing them to consider evidence outside the record and to improperly influenced by the message that only chains can keep the defendant from reaching even them and without such restraints the defendant would be prone to go on a rampage; and

-the trial attorneys failed to properly impeach the medical examiner's testimony as that testimony supported finding the statutory HAC aggravator in both killings.

The lower court denied Appellant relief on these claims. Further, the Order does not address the contention, argued in the written closing but not plead in the 3.850 motion, that the trial judge was not neutral and detached, as due process requires, but, as well as having previously counseled the codefendant, also had knowledge outside the record regarding the witness who is the subject of the <u>Brady</u> violation.

3. <u>SUMMARY OF TESTIMONY PRESENTED AT THE</u> EVIDENTIARY HEARING

The following testimony was elicited at the evidentiary hearing:

A. <u>Ellen Barfield</u>

At the hearing, the defendant called Ellen Barfield to testify. (T. 6) Ms. Barfield testified that she Robert Hendrix as far back as 1985 when he was 16 and she was 25. (T. 7)

She and Mr. Hendrix were friend who did cocaine and smoke

marijuana with him at least every other day, and she saw him use drugs and did drugs with him from the time he was sixteen until he was twenty-three. (T. 8)

Almost every time she saw him he was drinking and using drugs (T.9) She also saw Robert use acid, and recalls an incident in a bar later during which he had a flashback from the use of acid. (T. 9-10)

When Robert returned from prison in Lancaster, Robert had lost some of his happiness and friendliness, according to Barfield's observations. (T. 10) He didn't like talking about his introduction into prison. (T. 10-11)

After Robert's return from prison, she continued to use drugs with him, and, in fact, on the weekend prior to this crime, on a Monday, Barfield was with Robert at a bar, drinking to intoxication. (T. 11) In keeping with their usual practices, they would have also smoke marijuana. (T. 11)

In conclusion, Ms. Barfield noted that Mr. Hendrix had always been good to her and that she couldn't picture him any other way. (T. 12) She also recalled that Mr. Hendrix had used Methamphetimines and Ecstasy, and basically did the whole gamut of drugs that were available to him. (T. 13) At times, she used drugs with him. (T. 13)

Ellen Barfield confirmed that she would have testified for the defense at trial but that she was never spoken to by Mr. Hendrix's attorneys. (T.18)

B. <u>Doris Hendrix</u>

Doris Hendrix, Robert Hendrix's mother, testified that Robert's father was over-bearing and violent when Robert was a teen. (T. 20)

She also testified to the devastating loss Robert suffered when his older brother died in a car wreck at the age of sixteen, and how Robert felt that he too would die young. (T.21)

Robert began to stay out with friends all night, using drugs beginning in his early teens. (T.22) Robert became glassyeyed and his emotions slowed down, as though everything was smooth and things didn't bother him. (T. 22)

He started getting in trouble and was put in a STOP Camp and then in Lancaster Prison, where he very young, maybe fifteen, and afraid. (T. 22-23)

Mrs. Hendrix further testified that Bobby was diagnosed with a learning disability in the last year of elementary school, but in Junior High he felt out of place getting help and started skipping school. (T.23) He never did receive treatment for his disability. (T. 24)

Mrs. Hendrix recalled a head injury Robert suffered during a bike accident and the time he was hit in the head with a board or something when he was staying with his sister Linda in Houston. (T. 24)

Robert told Mrs. Hendrix that he was using marijuana at an early age. (T. 31) She noticed the increase in drug use

as he got older, and, in fact, he had lived at home and she had seen his condition up to two weeks before the crime. (T.32) She testified that, "He was on something, I'm not sure what it was." (T. 31)

Finally, Mrs. Hendrix testified that on the weekend before the crime she saw Mr. Hendrix at the house a couple times and that he was "high." (T3. 5) She could tell by his eyes and his actions-- "he just acted like he was kind of in a hurry and relaxed, too, in different ways." (T3. 5)

C. Doris Ann Hendrix

Doris Ann Hendrix, Robert's older sister, recalled when Robert began using drugs in his teens (T. 34) They talked about drugs, but the thing that bothered Robert the most was the volatile, abusive relationship with Robert's father. (T. 35)

Doris Ann characterized the father as a "rageaholic..." (T. 35) Anything could set him off and the children had to walk on eggshells. (T.35) Robert's father frequently berated him in public, there was constant verbal abuse which could still, when he was seventeen, reduce Robert to tears. (T. 36)

And there was extremely violent physical abuse beginning when the boys were young, with belts, and proceeding to the use of fists in what Doris Ann could only compare to a bar brawl. (T. 37) Doris Ann witnesses these many, many beating,

which were common. (T. 37)

Robert could not understand what set his father off, or why some small thing would set him off, and fear permeated the household. (T.37-38)

Doris Ann also witnessed Robert's drug use, and she noticed that the stint at Lancaster Prison bothered him. (T.38)

She witnessed the beating Robert took when a Texas neighbor beat him in the head with a golf club, leaving a big knot on Robert's head. (T. 39) Similarly, she was able to describe the welts and bruises his father's beatings left on Robert. (T. 40)

Had she been contacted or asked at the time of trial, she would have testified at trial as she testified at the hearing. (T. 40)

On cross-examination, Doris Ann confirmed that she had suffered emotional problems and damage and pain from the brutality of her father. (T. 48) She described hearing the sound of yelling and of hitting and Bobby begging the father to stop. (T. 49)

On re-direct, she clarified that it was the father's mood, not something the children did, that caused the father to go off on them. (T.51)

D. <u>Chris Vincent</u>

Chris Vincent testified at the evidentiary hearing that he grew up with Robert as kids who lived close-by. (T. 54)

Around age fourteen, they began to drink together and doing drugs like mushrooms and marijuana. (T. 55)

Had he been contacted, Mr. Vincent would have testified at Bobbie's trial, and Vincent would have been able to provide testimony of Bobby's daily and long-standing and progressive drug us from the early teens until the time of the crime. (T. 56)

They did "lots of stuff... all kinds of things together." (T. 56) At such times, Bobby would be off his chain, or crazy. (T.56)

E. <u>Kenneth Scott Adair</u>

Kenneth Scott Adair testified at the evidentiary hearing that he met bobby when they were about 13 and that he heard Bobby complain of his father's whippings and beatings. (T. 63-64)

Adair was also with Bobby when they crashed a car into a tree. (T. 64)

They smoked a lot of marijuana in junior high and had a few beers later on. (T. 65)

He also knew Denise Turbyville to use pretty much any drugs that she could get her hands on. (T. 65-66) Denise told him about Robert's use of acid, and told him that she and Bobby were using drugs together up until the time of the crime. (T. 66)

Scott Adair would have testified at Mr. Hendrix's trial as he did at the evidentiary hearing had he been asked. (T.

67)

F. <u>Scott Richardson</u>

Scott Richardson testified at the evidentiary hearing that he grew up near Robert Hendrix and knew him his whole life. (T. 72) They started experimenting with drugs together as young boys on bikes. (T. 73) They used hash, marijuana, and cocaine. (T. 74) Sometimes they'd drink. (T. 74) Later, after they'd drifted apart a bit, Richardson bumped into Hendrix, who told him that he that he'd tried smoking coke and shooting it. (T. 75)

Richardson was not contacted by Hendrix's counsel but would have testified at the trial had he been asked to.

G. <u>Michael Craft</u>

Michael Craft met Robert Hendrix when they were ten, eleven, or twelve. (T. 80) They drank hard liquor when they were thirteen or fourteen. (T. 81)

He heard Bobby had graduated to cocaine use by 1988 or 1989. (T. 82)

Craft was never contacted by Hendrix's defense team at trial but would have testified had he been asked. (T. 82)

H. <u>Matthew Smith</u>

Matthew Smith testified at the evidentiary hearing that Robert Maples introduced him to Robert Hendrix around 1989 or 1990 and that they had a drug use and sales relationship. (T. 84-85)

At that time, Mr. Hendrix had a serious coke habit, probably costing him five hundred dollars a day. (T. 85)

Hendrix and Maples would obtain marijuana from Smith and trade it for coke. (T. 85) This went for three months (T. 85), and Hendrix was injecting the cocaine at this time. (T. 86)

Matthew Smith would have testified at Hendrix's trial had he been contacted. (T. 86-87)

Smith also added that Mr. Hendrix was part of the generation in Apopka that got hit by explosion of crack and cocaine availability in the eighties. (T. 87) He described Mr. Hendrix as "wired for sound" and "a very serious drug abuser" who "shot the cocaine." (T. 94) Smith added, convincingly, "I mean, I've seen it, I know what it is, I know what it does, I know what the characteristics are." (T. 94)

I. <u>Randle Davis</u>

Randle Davis testified at the evidentiary hearing that he knew Hendrix when they were growing up. (T. 96-97)

At the age of fifteen or sixteen, they began using and selling drugs in the same crowd, and they did "pretty much everything," alcohol, marijuana, acid, cocaine, and "stuff like that." (T. 97) They did whatever was available. (T. 97)

Davis didn't recall being contacted about testifying at Robert's trial but would have if he'd been asked. (T. 98) Davis added that Bobby was "closed to himself" and kept a lot to himself. (T. 99)

He recalled seeing Robert crying about his family circumstance at home and that he never cared to go home at all to the point of sleeping in his car. (T. 99)

Bobby didn't appear to be violent around him. (T. 101)

J. <u>Noel Griffin</u>

Noel Griffin testified that he is an FDLE special agent and that in 1985 he was employed as an investigator with the Fifth

Circuit Office of State Attorney's Narcotics task Force as a commander. (T. 103) Bill Gross and Rick Ridgeway were prosecutors in the state attorney's office at that time. (T. 104)

As a commander on the task force from roughly 1986 through 1989, the task force employed Roger LaForce as a confidential informant or cooperating witness. (T.104-105) LaForce received substantial assistance from the state because of his work. (T. 106)

The Fifth Circuit Task Force was disbanded in 1989, but Griffin continued to work with Mr. Gross's office making cases in Sumter County.

Further, La Force might have called Griffin from jail during the time La Force was acting as a snitch in Hendrix's case. (T. 112) La Force couldn't recall. (T.112)

LaForce did identify that Judge Lockett was the judge on La Force's case when he entered his plea agreement after receiving "substantial assistance" because of his informant activities for the task force. (T. 113)

In another plea agreement, also in Lake County, La Force identifies the language on the agreement "T-A-S-K, drug and residential program as part of sentence" which the state attorney's office had included on the plea agreement. (T.114)

LaForce testified that he would communicate with the State Attorney and defense counsel to determine whether to

testify at the plea hearings. (T.115)

A representative of the State Attorney's Office sat on the Task Force Board of Directors and served as the chief investigator. (T. 115)

K. <u>Bill Gross</u>

Prosecutor Bill Gross testified at the evidentiary hearing that he could not recall if he reviewed La Force's legal records before he testified at the trial. (T. 121)

Gross indicated that conceivably Griffin could have gotten in touch with one of the detectives who would have contacted Gross and that, one way or another, Gross learned that La Force had information he obtained while in jail with Hendrix. (T. 122)

Gross testified that to the best of his recollection he had no knowledge that La Force had been a confidential informant. (T. 123) Gross did state he would have run the criminal history, though. (T. 122) Gross added that he thinks he would have disclosed this information but equivocated because he didn't know the law as well at the time of trial. (T.124) Today, he understands that the information about La Force that was not disclosed would be relevant impeachment evidence. (T. 124)

L. <u>Joanne Zeller</u>

Joanne Zeller, a State's witness, conceded that her daughter, Denise Turbeyville, used drugs as a teenager and dropped out of school when she was fifteen. (T. 131)

She was also aware that both Robert Hendrix and Denise

smoked marijuana. (T. 132)

M. <u>Dr. Lipman</u>

Dr. Jonathan Lipman testified that he a neuropharmacologist (T. 5) and was admitted by the Court to testify as an expert witness in the field of neuropharmacology. (T2. 25)

Dr. Lipman interviewed Robert Hendrix, and reviewed voluminous records, including the drug-use testimony of the witnesses who had testified thus far in the hearing. (T2. 25) Dr. Lipman reviewed the history of Mr. Hendrix drug use. (T2. 27)

Mr. Hendrix used alcohol for the first time at the age of nine or ten and had begun to smoke marijuana regularly by the age of twelve. (T2. 27) At that age, he also began using pharmaceutical drugs, particularly Percodan, Oxicodone, Valium, Quaaludes, and a variety of opiates. (T2. 27)

Hendrix used angel dust, or PCP, phencyclidine, a dissociative anesthetic, with street names of "peace" and "space," and used as a veterinary anesthetic. (T2. 27)

Thus, by age thirteen, Mr. Hendrix was using and abusing a wide range of drugs and alcohol, primarily depressants and opiates. T2. 28) By age sixteen, he graduated to cocaine and, over the next two years, he went through the typical escalation pattern, from snorting, to smoking, to injecting cocaine. (T2. 28)

Importantly, Mr. Hendrix would use the drug Valium to

mitigate the adverse effects of cocaine, which include complete paranoia, anxiousness, panic, and fear. (T2. 29) These effects are delusions and paranoid projections. Mr. Hendrix manifested these delusions. (T2. 31)

Mr. Hendrix went on cocaine "runs" during which he went without food and sleep for days and weeks, so he took Valium to avoid some of the psychological consequences of withdrawal. (T2. 32)

Mr. Hendrix also used the drugs at the same time injecting both cocaine and Valum, or "speed-balling," which more dangerous than using cocaine alone. (T2. 32) So Mr. Hendrix's Valium use began when he was 13 and continued until his arrest on the charges in this case.

When he doing cocaine from sixteen to eighteen he would take the Valium to come down off the coke, then in subsequent years he took the Valium with alcohol, a mixture which has a profound reaction. (T2. 32-33) Taken together, alcohol and valium are profoundly more intoxicating than either of them alone. (T2. 33) In fact, prior to the murders, Mr. Hendrix reported symptoms consistent with the abuse of both of these drugs. (T2. 33)

Up to the time of the crimes Mr. Hendrix was a serious alcohol abuser and abused in this way the biochemically damaging effect actually outlasts the presence of the drug, and further, the damage thus sustained is cumulative. (T2. 35)

Valium, particularly when used with alcohol, is different in that it has a very long half-life which is even further lengthened when used in conjunction with alcohol, and the half-life of valium can last for twenty-four to thirty-six hours, then the quarter-life lasts an additional twenty-four to thirty-six hours, and this cyclical diminishment continues by halves for a very long time. (T2. 36-37)

Dr. Lipton explicates benzodiazepine rage (Valium is a benzodiazepine). (T2. 38) In Dr. Lipman's expert opinion, Mr. Hendrix's cognitive approach to people that he felt were hurting him was that he would hurt them first before they had a chance to hurt him. (T2. 39)

The effect of the Valium was to unleash and disinhibit the behavior that was responsive to such paranoid projections. (T2. 39) This would explain the seething rage Mr. Hendrix reported at the time of the crimes, a really obsessive and furious, growing overwhelming anger. (T2. 39)

Dr. Lipman described the brain and developmental damage done by the use of drugs at an age as young as Mr. Hendrix's when he began drinking and substance abuse. (T2. 41) Further, the years of cocaine abuse causes persistent changes in brain function, particularly to the temporal and the frontal lobes of the brain. (T2. 41) Alcohol also causes brain damage. (T2. 42) Dr. Lipman testified that the combination of drugs Mr. Hendrix reported he had taken in the days preceding the crime would have been "substantially

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