IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-54

ROBERT EUGENE HENDRIX

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee,

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500 DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114 (386)238-4990 FAX - (386) 226-0457

#

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

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

**Point I:** The issue of Judge Lockett's impartiality was decided on direct appeal and is procedurally barred. Raising a new version of the issue will not resuscitate the claim. Hendrix's argument that the judge had a *Brady* responsibility to the defendant has no merit. Neither does the State have "constructive knowledge" of what a trial judge knows. This issue was neither raised in the Motion to Vacate nor ruled on by the collateral trial judge. It is not properly before this court.

**Point II:** The issue whether Appellant was inappropriately shackled is procedurally barred. The issue has no merit. Hendrix was an escape risk and found with a homemade shank in his jail cell two-and-a-half months before the trial. Every witness at the evidentiary hearing testified that the defendant's hands would not be handcuffed, but his legs will be shackled to the floor and covered from view by the jury. The defendant was not moved during the time the jury was in the room. Raising this claim as ineffective assistance of counsel does not breathe life into the claim.

**Point III:** Hendrix raised several claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. Most of the claims are insufficiently pled on direct appeal. Counsel was not ineffective for

failing to object to Juan Perez's testimony which had no relevance, and thus creates no prejudice. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to impeach LaForce. Counsel posed numerous objections, was overruled on most, and did elicit testimony that LaForce was gleaning knowledge from Hendrix so that he could make а deal with the State Attorney. Ultimately, LaForce's charges were either reduced or he did time served. Counsel was not ineffective in the penalty phase investigation. Hendrix prevented contact with witnesses. Counsel made a strategic decision not to present negative testimony of drug use and that Hendrix would burglarize to support his habit. Counsel did consult with Dr. Krop, who advised them he could not be of assistance. Hendrix described the murders to Dr. Krop in "cold, clear detail". Counsel made a strategic decision not to present this testimony to a jury. Counsel did present testimony from two experts and family members to establish mitigation. The testimony now presented by Hendrix does not establish statutory mitigation at the time of the crime. Hendrix denied involvement to the current experts who, therefore, cannot make an assessment of the statutory mitigators. Even if the current experts had testified, it would not have changed the outcome. The testimony of the medical examiner presented at the evidentiary

was speculative and would not have affected the aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious.

**Point IV:** Further impeachment information on LaForce would not have changed the outcome of the trial. This was a double homicide in which Hendrix purchased items to conceal his identity, disposed of evidence, murdered a witness to keep him from testifying, and killed two people in a heinous and cruel manner. Defense counsel did bring out impeachment evidence that self-serving LaForce was trying to make a deal with the State, that his goal was to elicit information at the jail, and that he ultimately received lenient sentences. The additional information would not have changed the outcome, and Hendrix has failed to establish the three prongs of a *Brady* claim.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

# THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY FAILING TO RULE ON THE ISSUE OF WHETHER JUDGE LOCKETT WAS BIASED; THIS ISSUE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED

Hendrix concedes that Judge Lockett's conflict was raised on direct appeal, but claims "the evidentiary hearing has exposed new evidence of Judge Lockett's conflict" (Initial Brief at 30). This new evidence is that Judge Lockett presided over a plea hearing involving Roger LaForce, a witness against Hendrix. Hendrix claims the fact Judqe Lockett took a plea on one of LaForce's cases and was aware LaForce was a confidential informant somehow compromised his partiality and created a conflict because LaForce testified in Hendrix' case. Hendrix claims Judqe Lockett had а responsibility to "advise the Defendant that he had knowledge of LaForce's activities as a confidential informant" (Initial Brief at 30).

Hendrix attempts to raise this issue on appeal under the theory that the collateral trial judge should have allowed a deposition of Judge Lockett to explore the Turbyville conflict, an issue which is clearly procedurally barred. Had the deposition been allowed, Hendrix reasons he would have

exposed the additional conflict of Judge Lockett insofar as LaForce being a confidential informant.

First, this issue was not raised in the Motion to Vacate and was not ruled on by the collateral trial judge. Therefore, the issue is procedurally barred from review. Second, this issue is procedurally barred because this court ruled on the Turbyville conflict on direct appeal, stating:

Hendrix first claims that the judqe erred in refusing to recuse himself. After Hendrix's live-in girlfriend, Denise, was arrested for her part in the crimes, she was subpoenaed to testify before the grand jury. The night before she was to testify, Denise told her lawyer, Ms. Morley, new information concerning the crime. Ms. Morley was uncertain how to advise her client concerning the grand jury investigation, so she consulted with Jerry Lockett, а lawyer in private practice. She told Lockett everything that Denise had told her, and Lockett told her that if he were Denise's lawyer he would not let her testify. Ms. Morley accepted this advice and advised Denise not to testify. (Notwithstanding this advice, Denise did eventually testify.)

When it became apparent that the State might seek the death penalty against Denise, Ms. Morley again went to Lockett to see if he would be her associate on Denise's case. Lockett expressed interest. By the time the court considered the appointment, however, Lockett was a candidate for circuit court judge and the court declined to appoint him. Lockett later became trial judge on the present case and defense counsel filed a motion for disqualification of the judge, claiming that Lockett's prior connection with Denise created a conflict, or appearance of conflict, of interest since Denise was to be a major witness in the Hendrix trial. Judge Lockett held a hearing on the motion and Ms. Morley testified, giving her account of events. The judge accepted the factual allegations as true, but ruled the motion

legally insufficient. Denise eventually testified against Hendrix in the present trial.

Hendrix claims that the judge erred in refusing to recuse himself in violation of section 38.02, Florida Statutes (1989), [FN4] and Canon 3(C) of the Florida Code of Judicial Conduct. [FN5] He does not claim, nor has he ever claimed, that the judge was biased in any way ("We are not alleging bias. We are not alleging anything improper...."), nor does he point to a single instance in the entire proceeding wherein the judge displayed partiality. Rather, he claims only that there was an "appearance" of conflict of interest. The record, however, fails to improper interest of any kind--or show that an appearance of such interest--was present. Ιt is uncontroverted that the judge never represented Denise, never met her, never spoke to her, that he discussed the matter with Ms. Morley for only several minutes, and was not paid for his advice. Further, at one point in the trial, defense counsel asked the judge to read the grand jury minutes, and this included Denise's entire testimony before that body. Neither the statute nor rule were violated. Cf. Walton v. State, 481 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 1985) (Defendant failed to show bias where trial judge presided over co-perpetrator's trial wherein additional evidence inculpating defendant was adduced.).

FN4. Section 38.02, Florida Statutes (1989) provides in relevant part:

38.02 Suggestion of disgualification; grounds; proceedings on suggestion and effect.--In any cause in any of the courts of this state any party to said cause ... may at any time before final judgment ... show by a suggestion filed in the cause that the judge before whom the cause is pending, or some person related to the judge by consanguinity or affinity within the third degree, is a party thereto, or is interested in the result thereof, or that said judge is related to an attorney or counselor of record in said cause by consanguinity or affinity within the third degree, or that said judge is a material witness for or against one of the parties to said cause....

FN5. Canon 3(C) of the Florida Code of Judicial Conduct provides in relevant part:

C. Disqualification.

(1) A judge should disqualify himself in a proceeding in which his impartiality might reasonably be questioned, including but not limited to instances where: (a) he has a personal bias or prejudice concerning a party, or personal knowledge of disputed evidentiary facts concerning the proceeding; (b) he served as lawyer in the matter in controversy, or a lawyer with whom he previously practiced law served during such association as a lawyer concerning the matter, or the judge or such lawyer has been a material witness concerning it; (c) he knows that he individually or as a fiduciary, or his spouse or minor child residing in his household, has а financial interest in the subject matter in controversy ... (d) he or his spouse ... (i) is a party to the proceeding ... (ii) is acting as a lawyer in the proceeding; (iii) is known by the judge to have an that could be substantially interest affected by the outcome of the proceeding; (iv) is to the judge's knowledge likely to be a material witness in the proceeding.

Hendrix further claims that by refusing to recuse himself the judge violated the due process principles articulated in *Gardner v. Florida*, 430 U.S. 349, 97 S.Ct. 1197, 51 L.Ed.2d 393 (1977). There, the jury returned a verdict of guilty of first-degree murder against Gardner and recommended life imprisonment. The judge nevertheless overrode

jury recommendation and imposed the death, explaining in his sentencing order that he was taking into account a presentence investigation report (PSI) that was unavailable to the jury. The United States Supreme Court vacated the death sentence for two reasons: The judge failed to give opportunity the defense an to explain the information contained in the PSI; and the complete PSI had not been made a part of the record for the Florida Supreme Court to review on appeal.

The present case differs from *Gardner* in several key respects. First, while the judge in *Gardner* expressly said in his sentencing order that the nonrecord evidence played a role in his decision to impose death, the judge here said just the opposite--that his findings were based solely on proof presented "during the guilt and penalty phase of the trial." Second, while the jury there life and the judge overrode that recommended based in part recommendation on the nonrecord evidence, here the jury recommended death unanimously for each murder and the judge complied. And third, while only a single aggravating factor supported the death penalty in Gardner, five aggravators for each of two murders are applicable here. We find Gardner inapposite.

Hendrix v. State, 637 So. 2d 916, 919 -920 (Fla. 1994).

Third, this issue makes no sense. A trial judge has no responsibility of disclosure to the defense under *Brady v*. *Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). *Brady* applies to the prosecution withholding potentially exculpatory evidence from the defense. If Hendrix's theory were viable, a trial judge would be saddled with the Herculean feat of informing defense counsel of potentially exculpatory information about State witnesses garnered from unrelated cases before the judge. A trial judge is neither an agent of the prosecution nor an investigator for the defense. As Hendrix points out, a presiding judge must be neutral and detached (Initial Brief at 31). This issue has no merit.

Hendrix also claims trial counsel was ineffective for failing to learn that Judge Lockett had a "relationship" with both LaForce and Turbyville. As previously stated, the conflict issue regarding Turbyville is procedurally barred. Raising the issue under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel cannot circumvent the procedural bar. *Kight v. Dugger*, 574 So. 2d 1066 (Fla. 1990). Moreover, Florida law does not allow the use of a different argument to relitigate issues that were raised or decided on direct appeal. *Turner v. Dugger*, 614 So. 2d 1075 (Fla. 1992); *Quince v. State*, 477 So. 2d 535 (Fla. 1985). As to LaForce, this claim repeats Point IV herein. As such, those arguments will be addressed in Point IV.

Hendrix last argues the State should have disclosed that "Judge Lockett may have been privy to information outside the record regarding LaForce." Again, this argument makes no sense. Hendrix does not explain how the State is responsible for knowing the information a judge knows or how that becomes *Brady* evidence. Merely invoking the magic word "Brady" does

not create an issue. Hendrix has failed to show the State should have knowledge of what a trial judge knows during an unrelated plea colloguy or that the State has a duty to disclose that information even if they had it.

The real crux of this issue is Hendrix's circular argument that he was denied the right to depose Judge Lockett on the Turbyville conflict issue, the LaForce plea shows that the judge had a conflict, and therefore, Hendrix should be allowed to depose the judge on the Turbyville conflict issue. The Turbyville conflict issue was decided on direct appeal. The LaForce argument has no merit and bootstrapping this allegation onto the Turbyville issue does not require ordering a deposition to explore an issue which is procedurally barred.

## POINT II

# THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING RELIEF ON THE SHACKLES ISSUE; THIS ISSUE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED

Hendrix claims he was inappropriately shackled during trial. His best evidence is that Mr. Graves cautioned his clients (not Appellant) to remain still, and that Ms. Turbyville's lawyer said she could hear the chains (Initial Brief at 40-41). First, this issue is procedurally barred and should have been raised on direct appeal. Second, the testimony of Ms. Turbyville's lawyer, a defense lawyer, was that she has heard chains before, not that she heard Hendrix's chains.

Third, this issue has no merit. The testimony at the evidentiary hearing was the following:

Judge Lockett, the trial judge, testified that Appellant was shackled during trial in the same procedure used in every trial (R 2832). When a defendant was brought in, the courtroom would be cleared except court personnel. The handcuffs were removed after the leg irons were attached to the shackle holders at the table. A defendant was never handcuffed in the presence of the jury. The jury could not see the leg irons (R 2833). There was a partition between the defense table and the jury. As a precaution, a partition was also placed on the prosecutor's table (R 2836). Appellant was

treated no differently from any other defendant (R 2834). The jurors could not see Appellant as he entered or left the courtroom (R 2837). Judge Lockett vaguely remembered that Appellant had weapons at the jail and there was talk about an escape (R 2835).

Lt. Newcombe was the bailiff during Appellant's trial. He was the Deputy Bureau Commander and worked his entire career in Court Services. (R 2841). Judge Lockett made it clear that no juror should see a defendant in shackles. When a defendant was brought into the courtroom, his legs would be shackled and his hands cuffed (R 2842). Jurors would never see a defendant in shackles - they would not be in the courtroom but in the separate, secured jury room (R 2843). The jury entered the jury room through a separate entrance (R 2854). Once the defendant was seated, the handcuffs would be removed and the feet shackled to an anchor by the floor (R 2843). There were facades in front of both counsel tables to prevent the jury from seeing under the tables (R 2844). The prosecution's table was closer to the jury box than the defense table (R 2853). Newcombe was aware Appellant was an escape risk and had a weapon at the jail (R 2845). Lt. Bass found a homemade shank in Appellant's cell on June 27, 1991, two and one-half months before the trial (2846). Appellant

and another inmate also attempted to make a shank in order to obtain an officer's keys in order to escape (R 2847).

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